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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of 
Oconee Federal Financial Corp. and Subsidiary 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Oconee Federal Financial Corp. and Subsidiary (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the related 
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, 
the “financial statements”). 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant 
ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or available to be issued. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.  
 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or 
in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
 

 
Greenville, South Carolina 
September 22, 2025 



OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

JUNE 30, 2025 and 2024 
 (Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 
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June 30,
2025

June 30,
2024

ASSETS
Cash and due from banks 4,122$  12,235$  
Interest-earning deposits 16,199 5,828 
Fed funds sold - 9 

Total cash and cash equivalents 20,321 18,072 
Securities available-for-sale at estimated fair value 122,122 129,757 
Equity securities at estimated fair value 671 110 
Loans 482,084 473,004 
Allowance for credit losses (3,393) (3,332) 

Net loans 478,691 469,672 
Loans held for sale, at fair value 82 - 
Premises and equipment, net 8,392 8,715 
Accrued interest receivable

Loans 1,717 1,642 
Investments 369 399 

Restricted equity securities, at cost 2,742 3,705 
Bank owned life insurance 21,966 21,400 
Goodwill 2,593 2,593 
Core deposit intangible 26 59 
Loan servicing rights 296 342 
Deferred tax assets 6,697 8,001 
Other assets 1,502 1,136 

Total assets 668,187$  665,603$  

LIABILITIES 
Deposits

Noninterest - bearing 80,152$  74,260$  
Interest - bearing 463,485 452,727 

Total deposits 543,637 526,987 
Federal Home Loan Bank advances 35,750 55,950 

Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 4,520 3,895 
Total liabilities 583,907 586,832 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 

68 68 
Treasury stock, at par, 1,012,149 and 998,453 shares, respectively (10) (10) 
Additional paid-in capital 9,265 9,375 
Retained earnings 88,954 87,046 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (13,997) (17,708) 

Total shareholders' equity 84,280 78,771 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 668,187$  665,603$  

      6,836,863 and 6,836,863 shares issued and outstanding, respectively

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024 
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)   
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June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Interest and dividend income:
Loans, including fees 24,041$  20,507$  
Securities, taxable 3,079 3,059 
Securities, tax-exempt 151 150 
Other interest-earning assets 486 419 

Total interest income 27,757 24,135 
Interest expense:

Deposits 9,985 9,091 
Other borrowings 2,138 2,742 

Total interest expense 12,123 11,833 
Net interest income 15,634 12,302 

Provision for credit losses 118 160   
Net interest income after provision for credit losses 15,516 12,142 

Service charges on deposit accounts 303 434 
Income on bank owned life insurance 566 527 
Mortgage servicing income 73 72 
Gain on sale of mortgage loans 59 30 
ATM & debit card income 502 477 
Change in fair value of equity securities, net 561 75 
Bargain purchase gain - 4,897 
Other 180 120 

Total noninterest income 2,244 6,632 
Noninterest expense:

Salaries and employee benefits 6,912 6,653 
Occupancy and equipment 1,996 1,754 
Data processing 1,031 1,091 
ATM & debit card expense 408 390 
Professional and supervisory fees 456 449 
Merger related expense - 329 
Office expense 159 195 
Advertising 178 141 
FDIC deposit insurance 324 280 
Change in loan servicing asset 46 40 
Other 805 758 

Total noninterest expense 12,315 12,080 
Income before income taxes 5,445 6,694 
Income tax expense 1,202 439 

         Net income 4,243$  6,255$  

Other comprehensive income
Unrealized gains on securities available-for-sale 4,697$  732$  
Tax effect (986) (154) 
Total other comprehensive income 3,711 578 

Comprehensive income 7,954$  6,833$  

Basic net income per share (Note 3) 0.73$  1.10$  
Diluted net income per share (Note 3) 0.73$  1.10$  
Dividends declared per share 0.40$  0.40$  

Noninterest income:

Years Ended

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 



OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024  
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)   

Accumulated
Additional Other Unearned

Common Treasury Paid-In Retained Comprehensive ESOP
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Shares Total

Balance at June 30, 2023 66$                      (10)$                      6,122$                   83,897$                 (18,286)$                -$  71,789$                 
Net income - - - 6,255                     - - 6,255                     
Other comprehensive income - - - - 578 - 578 

Purchase of 1,057 shares of treasury stock (1) - 0 (14) - - - (14)
Stock-based compensation expense - - 69 - - - 69 
Common Stock Issued 2 -                           3,198 - - - 3,200                     
Dividends - - - (2,290)                    - - (2,290)                    
Adoption of new accounting standard, net of tax - - - (816) - - (816) 
Balance at June 30, 2024 68$                      (10)$                      9,375$                   87,046$                 (17,708)$                -$  78,771$                 

Net income - - - 4,243                     - - 4,243                     
Other comprehensive income - - - - 3,711                     - 3,711 

Purchase of 13,696 shares of treasury stock (2) - 0 (178) - - - (178)
Stock-based compensation expense - - 68 - - - 68 
Dividends - - - (2,335)                    - - (2,335)                    
Balance at June 30, 2025 68$                      (10)$                      9,265$                   88,954$                 (13,997)$                -$  84,280$                 

Columns that show zero are below one thousand dollars. 

(1) The weighted average cost of treasury shares purchased during the year was $13.13 per share.  Treasury stock repurchases were
accounted for using the par value method.

(2) The weighted average cost of treasury shares purchased during the year was $13.02 per share.  Treasury stock repurchases were
accounted for using the par value method.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024 
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)  
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June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income  4,243$  6,255$  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Provision for credit losses 118 160 
Depreciation and amortization, net 503 734 
Net amortization/(accretion) of purchase accounting adjustments 1 (120) 
Deferred income tax expense 318 224 
Net gain on acquisition of Mutual Savings Bank - (4,897) 
Net gain on sale of premises and equipment (160) (56) 
Change in loan servicing asset 46 40 
Mortgage loans originated for sale (2,920) (1,681) 
Mortgage loans sold 2,897 1,711 
Gain on sales of mortgage loans (59) (30) 
Change in fair value of equity securities (561) (75) 
Increase in cash surrender value of bank owned life insurance (566) (527) 
Stock based compensation expense 68 69                        
Net change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accrued interest receivable and other assets (411) (704) 
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities 569 (56) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,086 1,047 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Net cash received from acquisition of Mutual Savings Bank - 2,980 

Purchases of premises and equipment (409) (91) 
Disposal of premises and equipment 405 356 
Proceeds from maturities, paydowns and calls of securities available-for-sale 12,349 11,038 
Sales of restricted equity securities 1,619 960 
Purchases of restricted equity securities (656) (1,489) 
Proceeds from sale of real estate owned - 44 
Loan originations and repayments, net (9,082) (25,776) 

Net cash provided/(used) in investing activities 4,226 (11,978) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net change in deposits 16,650 20,716 
Net change in notes payable to FHLB (20,200) 3,297 

Dividends paid (2,335) (2,290) 
Purchase of treasury stock (178) (14) 

Net cash (used)/provided by financing activities (6,063) 21,709 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 2,249 10,778 

18,072 7,294 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 20,321$  18,072$  

Years Ended

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



 OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024 
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data) 
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Operations and Principle of Consolidation:   The consolidated financial statements of Oconee Federal Financial Corp. include 
the accounts of its wholly owned subsidiary Oconee Federal Savings and Loan Association (the “Association") (referred to herein as 
“the Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) and have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”).  Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated during consolidation.  The Company is majority owned (75.45%) 
by Oconee Federal, MHC.  These consolidated financial statements do not include the transactions and balances of Oconee Federal, 
MHC.  The Association is a federally chartered stock savings and loan association engaged in the business of accepting savings and 
demand deposits and providing mortgage, consumer and commercial loans. Primarily, the Association's business is in the Oconee 
County, Pickens County and Darlington County areas of South Carolina, and the Stephens County and Rabun County areas of Georgia.  
The following is a description of the significant accounting policies the Company follows in preparing and presenting its consolidated 
financial statements.   

Use of Estimates: To prepare financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management makes estimates and assumptions based on 
available information.  These estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the 
disclosures provided, and actual results could differ.     

Cash Flows: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, federal funds sold, overnight interest-bearing deposits and amounts due 
from other depository institutions.   

Restrictions on Cash: Cash on hand or on deposit with the Federal Reserve Bank is required to meet regulatory reserve and clearing 
requirements.  These balances do not earn interest.   

Interest-Bearing Deposits in Other Financial Institutions: Interest-bearing deposits in other financial institutions mature within one year 
and are carried at cost.   

Securities: Securities are classified as available-for-sale when they might be sold before maturity.  Non-equity securities available-for-
sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported in other comprehensive income, net of tax.  The change 
in fair value of equity securities is recognized in the income statement. 

Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount.  Premiums and discounts on securities are amortized on the 
level-yield method without anticipating prepayments, except for mortgage-backed securities where prepayments are anticipated.  Gains 
and losses on sales are recorded on the trade date and determined using the specific identification method.   

For available‐for‐sale securities, management evaluates all investments in an unrealized loss position on a quarterly basis, and more 
frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. If the Company has the intent to sell the security, or it is more 
likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security, the security is written down to fair value, and the entire loss is 
recorded in earnings.   

Allowance for Credit Losses - Securities: If either of the above criteria is not met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in fair 
value is the result of credit losses or other factors. In making the assessment, the Company may consider various factors including the 
extent to which fair value is less than amortized cost, performance on any underlying collateral, downgrades in the ratings of the security 
by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled interest or principal payments and adverse conditions specifically related 
to the security. If the assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected is compared 
to the amortized cost basis of the security and any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited to the amount that the fair 
value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any amount of unrealized loss that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit 
loss is recognized in other comprehensive income.   

Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the 
allowance for credit loss when management believes an available‐for‐sale security is confirmed to be uncollectible or when either of the 
criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. At June 30, 2025, there was no allowance for credit loss related to the available‐
for‐sale portfolio.  



 OCONEE FEDERAL FINANCIAL CORP. 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024 
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Accrued interest receivable on available‐for‐sale debt securities totaled $369 at June 30, 2025 and was excluded from the estimate of 
credit losses. 

Loans Held for Sale: Mortgage loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the lower of aggregate cost 
or fair value, as determined by outstanding commitments from investors.  Net unrealized losses, if any, are recorded as a valuation 
allowance and charged to earnings.  Loans held for sale, for which the fair value option has been elected, are recorded at fair value as of 
each balance sheet date.  The fair value includes the servicing value of the loans as well as any accrued interest.  

Loans:  Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at 
amortized cost. Amortized cost is the principal balance outstanding, net of purchase premiums and discounts and deferred fees and costs. 
Accrued interest receivable related to loans totaled $1,717 at June 30, 2025 and was reported in accrued interest receivable on the 
consolidated balance sheets. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct 
origination costs, are deferred and recognized in interest income using methods that approximate a level yield without anticipating 
prepayments.  

The accrual of interest is generally discontinued when a loan becomes 90 days past due and is not well collateralized and in the process 
of collection, or when management believes, after considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts, that the principal 
or interest will not be collectible in the normal course of business. Past due status is based on contractual terms of the loan. A loan is 
considered to be past due when a scheduled payment has not been received 30 days after the contractual due date.  

All accrued interest is reversed against interest income when a loan is placed on nonaccrual status. Interest received on such loans is 
accounted for using the cost‐recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual. Under the cost‐recovery method, interest income is 
not recognized until the loan balance is reduced to zero. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts 
contractually due are brought current, there is a sustained period of repayment performance, and future payments are reasonably assured. 

Purchased credit impaired and credit deteriorated loans: Upon adoption of ASC 326, loans that were designated as purchased credit 
impaired (“PCI”) loans under the previous accounting guidance were classified as purchased credit deteriorated (“PCD”) loans without 
reassessment. In future acquisitions, the Company may purchase loans, some of which have experienced more than insignificant credit 
deterioration since origination. In those cases, the Company will consider internal loan grades, delinquency status and other relevant 
factors in assessing whether purchased loans are PCD. PCD loans are recorded at the amount paid. An initial allowance for credit loss 
is determined using the same methodology as other loans held for investment, but with no impact to earnings. The initial allowance for 
credit loss determined on a collective basis is allocated to individual loans. The sum of the loan's purchase price and allowance for credit 
loss becomes its initial amortized cost basis. The difference between the initial amortized cost basis and the par value of the loan is a 
noncredit discount or premium, which is amortized into interest income over the life of the loan. Subsequent to initial recognition, PCD 
loans are subject to the same interest income recognition and impairment model as non‐PCD loans, with changes to the allowance for 
credit loss recorded through provision expense. 

Loan Modifications to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty: An assessment of whether a borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty is made on the date of a modification. Because the effect of most modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial 
difficulty is already included in the allowance for credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the 
allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon modification. Occasionally, the Company modifies 
loans by providing principal forgiveness on certain of its real estate loans. When principal forgiveness is provided, the amortized cost 
basis of the asset is written off against the allowance for credit losses. The amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be 
uncollectible; therefore, that portion of the loan is written off, resulting in a reduction of the amortized cost basis and a corresponding 
adjustment to the allowance for credit losses.  
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan by providing multiple types of concessions. Typically, one type of concession, 
such as a term extension, is granted initially. If the borrower continues to experience financial difficulty, another concession, such as 
principal forgiveness, may be granted. In some cases, multiple types of modifications may be made on the same loan within the current 
reporting period.  

Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans:  The allowance for credit losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses.  Loan 
losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed.  Subsequent 
recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance.  Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance 
is available for any loan that, in management's judgment, should be charged-off.   

Under the current expected credit loss model, the allowance for credit losses on loans is a valuation allowance estimated at each balance 
sheet date in accordance with GAAP that is deducted from the loans’ amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be 
collected on the loans. 

Management assesses the adequacy of the allowance on a quarterly basis. This assessment includes procedures to estimate the allowance 
and test the adequacy and appropriateness of the resulting balance. The level of the allowance is based upon management's evaluation 
of historical default and loss experience, current and projected economic conditions, asset quality trends, known and inherent risks in 
the portfolio, adverse situations that may affect the borrowers' ability to repay a loan, the estimated value of any underlying collateral, 
composition of the loan portfolio, industry and peer bank loan quality indications and other pertinent factors, including regulatory 
recommendations. Management believes the level of the allowance for credit losses is adequate to absorb all expected future losses 
inherent in the loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. The allowance is increased through provision for credit losses and decreased by 
charge-offs, net of recoveries of amounts previously charged-off. 

The allowance for credit losses is measured on a collective basis for pools of loans with similar risk characteristics. Management utilizes 
an internal loan grading system and assigns each loan a grade of pass, special mention, substandard, or doubtful, which are more fully 
explained in Note 5.  Any nonresidential or residential non-owner occupied loans that meet certain size requirements and performance 
characteristics are individually evaluated for a specific reserve.  The amount of specific reserve, if any, is measured by a comparison of 
the loan's carrying value to the net present value of future cash flows using the loan's effective rate at inception or at the fair value of 
collateral if repayment is expected to come solely from the collateral. All loans graded pass, special mention, substandard and doubtful 
not individually evaluated are collectively evaluated for reserve by portfolio segment.  To develop and document a systematic 
methodology for determining the portion of the allowance for credit losses for loans evaluated collectively, the Company has divided 
the loan portfolio into segments, each with different risk characteristics and methodologies for assessing risk.   

The Company has identified the following pools of financial assets with similar risk characteristics for measuring expected credit losses: 

One-to-four family:  One-to-four family residential loans consist primarily of loans secured by first or second deeds of trust on primary 
residences, and are originated as adjustable-rate or fixed-rate loans for the construction, purchase or refinancing of a mortgage.  These 
loans are collateralized by owner-occupied properties located in the Company's market area.  The Company currently originates 
residential mortgage loans for our portfolio with loan-to-value ratios of up to 80% for traditional owner-occupied homes.   

For traditional homes, the Company may originate loans with loan-to-value ratios in excess of 80% if the borrower obtains mortgage 
insurance or provides readily marketable collateral.  The Company may make exceptions for special loan programs that we offer.  The 
Company also originates residential mortgage loans for non-owner-occupied homes with loan-to-value ratios of up to 80%.   
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Multi-family:  Multi-family real estate loans generally have a maximum term of five years with a 30 year amortization period and a final 
balloon payment and are secured by properties containing five or more units in the Company's market area.  These loans are generally 
made in amounts of up to 75% of the lesser of the appraised value or the purchase price of the property with an appropriate projected 
debt service coverage ratio.  The Company's underwriting analysis includes considering the borrower's expertise and requires verification 
of the borrower's credit history, income and financial statements, banking relationships, independent appraisals, references and income 
projections for the property.  The Company generally obtains personal guarantees on these loans.   

Multi-family real estate loans generally present a higher level of risk than loans secured by one-to-four family residences.  This greater 
risk is due to several factors, including the concentration of principal in a limited number of loans and borrowers, the effects of general 
economic conditions on income-producing properties and the increased difficulty of evaluating and monitoring these types of loans.  
Furthermore, the repayment of loans secured by multi-family residential real estate is typically dependent upon the successful operation 
of the related real estate project.   

Home Equity:  The Company offers home equity loans and lines of credit secured by first or second deeds of trust on primary residences 
in our market area.  The Company’s home equity loans and lines of credit are generally limited to an 80% loan-to-value ratio (including 
all prior liens).  Standard residential mortgage underwriting requirements are used to evaluate these loans.  The Company offers 
adjustable-rate and fixed-rate options for these loans with a maximum term of 10 years.  The repayment terms on lines of credit are 
interest only monthly with principle due at maturity.  Home equity loans have a more traditional repayment structure with principal and 
interest due monthly.  The maximum term on home equity loans is 10 years with an amortization schedule not to exceed 20 years. 

Nonresidential Real Estate:  Nonresidential loans include those secured by real estate mortgages on churches, owner-occupied and non-
owner-occupied commercial buildings of various types, retail and office buildings, hotels, and other business and industrial properties.  
The nonresidential real estate loans that the Company originates generally have terms of five to 20 years with amortization periods up 
to 20 years.  The maximum loan-to-value ratio of our nonresidential real estate loans is generally 75%. 
 
Loans secured by nonresidential real estate generally are larger than one-to-four family residential loans and involve greater credit risk.  
Nonresidential real estate loans often involve large loan balances to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers.  Repayment of 
these loans depends to a large degree on the results of operations and management of the properties securing the loans or the businesses 
conducted on such property, and may be affected to a greater extent by adverse conditions in the real estate market or the economy in 
general, including the current adverse conditions.  

The Company considers a number of factors in originating nonresidential real estate loans.  The Company evaluates the qualifications 
and financial condition of the borrower, including credit history, cash flows, the applicable business plan, the financial resources of the 
borrower, the borrower's experience in owning or managing similar property and the borrower's payment history with the Company and 
other financial institutions.  In evaluating the property securing the loan, the factors the Company considers include the net operating 
income of the mortgaged property before debt service and depreciation, the ratio of the loan amount to the appraised value of the 
mortgaged property and the debt service coverage ratio (the ratio of net operating income to debt service). The collateral underlying all 
nonresidential real estate loans is appraised by outside independent appraisers approved by our board of directors.  Personal guarantees 
may be obtained from the principals of nonresidential real estate borrowers.   

Agricultural:  These loans are secured by farmland and related improvements in the Company’s market area.  These loans generally 
have terms of five to 20 years with amortization periods up to 20 years.  The maximum loan-to-value ratio of these loans is generally 
75%.  The Company is managing a small number of these loans in our portfolio.  We continue to closely monitor our existing 
relationships. 

Loans secured by agricultural real estate generally are larger than one-to-four family residential loans and involve greater credit risk.  
Agricultural real estate loans often involve large loan balances to single borrowers or groups of related borrowers.  Repayment of these 
loans depends to a large degree on the results of operations and management of the properties securing the loans or the businesses 
conducted on such property, and may be affected to a greater extent by adverse conditions in the real estate market or the economy in 
general, including the current adverse conditions. 
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Construction and Land:  The Company makes construction loans to individuals for the construction of their primary residences and to 
commercial businesses for their real estate needs.  These loans generally have maximum terms of twelve months, and upon completion 
of construction convert to conventional amortizing mortgage loans.  Residential construction loans have rates and terms comparable to 
one-to-four family residential mortgage loans that the Company originates.  Commercial construction loans have rate and terms 
comparable to commercial loans that we originate.  During the construction phase, the borrower generally pays interest only.  Generally, 
the maximum loan-to-value ratio of our owner-occupied construction loans is 80%.  Residential construction loans are generally 
underwritten pursuant to the same guidelines used for originating permanent residential mortgage loans.  Commercial construction loans 
are generally underwritten pursuant to the same guidelines used for originating commercial loans. 

The Company also makes interim construction loans for nonresidential properties.  In addition, the Company occasionally makes loans 
for the construction of homes "on speculation", but the Company generally permits a borrower to have only two such loans at a time.  
These loans generally have a maximum term of eight months, and upon completion of construction convert to conventional amortizing 
nonresidential real estate loans.  These construction loans have rates and terms comparable to permanent loans secured by property of 
the type being constructed that we originate.  Generally, the maximum loan-to-value ratio of these construction loans is 85%. 

Commercial and Industrial Loans:  Commercial and industrial loans are offered to businesses and professionals in the Company’s market 
area.  These loans generally have short and medium terms on both a collateralized and uncollateralized basis.  The structure of these 
loans are largely determined by the loan purpose and collateral.  Sources of collateral can include a lien on furniture, fixtures, equipment, 
inventory, receivables and other assets of the company.  A UCC-1 is typically filed to perfect our lien on these assets.  

Commercial and industrial loans and leases typically are underwritten on the basis of the borrower’s or lessee’s ability to make 
repayment from the cash flow of its business and generally are collateralized by business assets. As a result, such loans and leases 
involve additional complexities, variables and risks and require more thorough underwriting and servicing than other types of loans and 
leases.  

Consumer and Other Loans:  The Company offers installment loans for various consumer purposes, including the purchase of 
automobiles, boats, and for other legitimate personal purposes.  The maximum terms of consumer loans is generally 18 months for 
unsecured loans and 18 to 60 months for loans secured by a vehicle, depending on the age of the vehicle.  The Company generally only 
extends consumer loans to existing customers or their immediate family members, and these loans generally have relatively low 
balances.   

Consumer loans may entail greater credit risk than residential mortgage loans, particularly in the case of consumer loans that are 
unsecured or are secured by rapidly depreciable assets, such as automobiles.  In addition, consumer loan collections are dependent on 
the borrower's continuing financial stability, and thus are more likely to be affected by adverse personal circumstances.  Furthermore, 
the application of various federal and state laws, including bankruptcy and insolvency laws, may limit the amount which can be 
recovered on such loans. 

For all loan pools, the Company calculates lifetime probability of default and loss given default rates based on historical loss experience, 
which is used to calculate expected losses based on the pool’s loss rate. Management believes that the Company’s historical loss 
experience provides the best basis for its assessment of expected credit losses to determine the allowance for credit losses. The Company 
uses its own internal data to measure historical credit loss experience within the pools with similar risk characteristics over an economic 
cycle. The probability of default and loss given default method also includes assumptions of observed migration over the lifetime of the 
underlying loan data. 
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Management also considers further adjustments to historical loss information for current conditions and reasonable and supportable 
forecasts that differ from the conditions that exist for the period over which historical information is evaluated as well as other changes 
in qualitative factors not inherently considered in the quantitative analyses. The Company generally utilizes an eight-quarter forecast 
period in evaluating the appropriateness of the reasonable and supportable forecast scenarios which are incorporated through qualitative 
adjustments. The qualitative categories and the measurements used to quantify the risks within each of these categories are subjectively 
selected by management but measured by objective measurements period over period. The data for each measurement may be obtained 
from internal or external sources. The current period measurements are evaluated and assigned a factor commensurate with the current 
level of risk relative to past measurements over time. The resulting qualitative adjustments are applied to the relevant collectively 
evaluated loan pools. These adjustments are based upon quarterly trend assessments in certain economic factors such as labor, inflation 
and consumer sentiment, as well as associate retention and turnover, portfolio underwriting characteristics and the regulatory and legal 
environments. The qualitative analysis increases or decreases the allowance allocation for each loan pool based on the assessment of 
factors described above. 

Loans that do not share similar risk characteristics with the collectively evaluated pools are evaluated on an individual basis and are 
excluded from the collectively evaluated loan pools. Individual loan evaluations are generally performed for loans that are over $250 
and management considers it probable that the Company will be unable to collect all amounts when due according to the contractual 
terms of the loan agreement. Such loans are evaluated for credit losses based on either discounted cash flows or the fair value of 
collateral. The Company has elected the practical expedient under ASC 326 to estimate expected credit losses based on the fair value of 
collateral, which considers selling costs in the event sale of the collateral is expected.  

While the Company’s policies and procedures used to estimate the allowance for credit losses, as well as the resulting provision for 
credit losses charged to income, are considered adequate by management and are reviewed periodically by regulators and internal audit, 
they are necessarily approximate and imprecise. There are factors beyond the Company’s control, such as changes in projected economic 
conditions, real estate markets or particular industry conditions which may materially impact asset quality and the adequacy of the 
allowance for credit losses and thus the resulting provision for credit losses. 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Unfunded Commitments: Financial instruments include off‐balance sheet credit instruments, such as 
commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit issued to meet customer financing needs. The Company’s exposure to 
credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for off‐balance sheet loan commitments is 
represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.  

The Company maintains an allowance for off‐balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded balances for existing lines of credit, 
commitments to extend future credit, as well as both standby and commercial letters of credit when there is a contractual obligation to  
extend credit and when this extension of credit is not unconditionally cancellable (i.e., the commitment cannot be canceled at any time). 
The allowance for off‐balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for credit loss expense. The estimate includes 
consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur, which is based on a historical funding study derived from internal 
information, and an estimate of expected credit losses on commitments expected to be funded over its estimated life, which are the same 
loss rates that are used in computing the allowance for credit losses on loans. 

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other:   The Company's business activity is principally with customers located in the northwest portion 
of South Carolina and northeast Georgia.  The Company requires its customers to provide collateral, generally in the form of title to real 
estate, for substantially all loans.  Certain consumer loans are made to customers without requiring collateral.  Except for loans in the 
Company's market area, the Company has no other significant concentrations of credit risk.   

The Company places its cash and cash equivalents on deposit with financial institutions in the United States.  The Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) provides deposit insurance for up to $250 for substantially all depository accounts.  The Company from 
time to time may have amounts on deposit in excess of the insured limits, and management believes the risk of loss is not significant.   
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Loan Servicing Rights:  When mortgage loans are sold with servicing retained, servicing rights are initially recorded at fair value with 
the income statement effect recorded in mortgaging banking income.  Fair value is based on market prices for comparable mortgage 
servicing contracts, when available, or alternatively, is based on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future 
net servicing income. 

Under the fair value measurement method, the Company measures servicing rights at fair value at each reporting date and reports 
changes in fair value of servicing assets in earnings in the period in which the changes occur, and are shown as change in loan servicing 
asset on the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income.  The fair values of servicing rights are subject to significant 
fluctuations as a result of changes in estimated and actual prepayment speeds and default rates and losses.   
 
Goodwill:   Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired in a business 
combination.  Management reviews goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if deemed necessary, as goodwill is deemed 
to have an indefinite life. On the annual assessment date, May 31, management performs a qualitative assessment of whether it was 
more likely than not that the fair value exceeds carrying value. Based on the most recent assessment, management determined that it 
was more likely than not that the fair value exceeded its carrying value, resulting in no impairment to goodwill. There was no significant 
change between May 31, 2025 and June 30, 2025. 
 
Core Deposit Intangible: Core deposit intangible represents the estimated value of long-term deposit core deposit relationships acquired 
in a business combination. This value is amortized over the weighted-average estimated useful lives of deposit accounts using a method 
that management believes reasonably approximates the anticipated benefit stream from this intangible. The estimated useful lives are 
periodically reviewed for reasonableness. The core deposit intangible acquired will be amortized over 10 years using the original 
projections of future benefit stream of cash flows, adjusted periodically, if needed for potential impairment of the remaining unamortized 
balance of the core deposit intangible. 

Premises and Equipment:   Land is carried at cost.  Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Buildings 
and related components are depreciated using the straight-line method with useful lives ranging from five to 39 years.  Furniture, fixtures 
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method, with useful lives ranging from five to seven years.  Maintenance and 
repairs are charged to operations in the year incurred.  Gains and losses on dispositions are included in current year operations.  The 
Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of 
such assets may not be recoverable. 

Real Estate Owned:  Real estate acquired through loan foreclosure is initially recorded at fair value less cost to sell at the date of 
foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis.  Subsequent to foreclosure, real estate owned is recorded at the lower of carrying amount or 
fair value less estimated costs to sell.  Any initial losses at the time of foreclosure are charged against the allowance for loan losses with 
any subsequent losses or write-downs included in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income as a component of 
noninterest expenses.   

Restricted Equity Securities:  Restricted equity securities consist of Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB”) stock and First 
National Bankers Bancshares, Inc. (“FNBB”) stock. The Company is a member of the FHLB system.  Members are required to own a 
certain amount of stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts.  There is a very limited 
market for FNBB stock.  Based on the redemptive provisions of the FHLB and FNBB, the stock is carried at cost, as restricted securities, 
and is periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value.  Both cash and stock dividends are reported as 
income.   

Income Taxes:  The provision for income taxes is based on amounts reported in the consolidated statements of income and 
comprehensive income (after exclusion of non-taxable income such as interest on state and municipal securities) and includes changes 
in deferred taxes.  Deferred taxes are computed using the asset and liability approach.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected at 
currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in which the deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or 
settled.  As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted through the provision for income 
taxes.   
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

The Company follows guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) with respect to accounting for 
uncertainty in income taxes.  A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be 
sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur.  The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax 
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination.  For tax positions not meeting the “more likely than not" test, 
no tax benefit is recorded. The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in other noninterest expense.   

Comprehensive Income:  Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income/(loss).  Other comprehensive 
income for the Company consists solely of unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale, net of tax. 

Loss Contingencies:  Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as 
liabilities when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated.  Management does not 
believe there now are such matters that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.   

Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments:   Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as 
commitments to make loans and commercial letters of credit, issued to meet customer financing needs.  The face amount for these items 
represents the exposure to loss, before considering customer collateral or ability to repay.  Such financial instruments are recorded when 
they are funded.   

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:  Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information.  Changes in 
market conditions could significantly affect the estimates.  For financial instruments where there is little or no relevant market 
information due to limited or no market activity, the Company estimates the fair value of these instruments through the use of a 
discounted present value of estimated cash flows technique, which includes the Company's own assumptions as to the amounts and 
timing of cash flows, adjusted for risk factors related to nonperformance and liquidity.  The Company's assumptions are based on an 
exit price strategy and take into consideration the assumptions that a willing market participant would use about nonperformance and 
liquidity risk.   

Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”):  The cost of shares issued to the ESOP, but not yet allocated to participants, is shown as a 
reduction of shareholders' equity.  Compensation expense is based on the market price of shares as they are committed to be released to 
participant accounts.  Dividends, when paid, on allocated ESOP shares reduce retained earnings.  Dividends, when paid, on unearned 
ESOP shares reduce debt and accrued interest.   

Retirement Plans:   Profit sharing plan expense is the amount of the Company's contribution to participants of the plan.  Deferred 
compensation and supplemental retirement plan expense allocates the benefits over years of service.   

Bank Owned Life Insurance:   The Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain directors and employees.  Accounting 
guidance requires bank owned life insurance to be recorded at the amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance 
sheet date, which is the cash surrender value adjusted for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at settlement.   

Reclassifications:  Some items in the prior year consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform to the current presentation 
and had no effect on net income or shareholders’ equity.   

Earnings Per Share (“EPS”):  Basic EPS is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and is adjusted for 
ESOP shares not yet committed to be released.  Unvested restricted stock awards, which contain rights to non-forfeitable dividends, are 
considered participating securities and the two-class method of computing basic and diluted EPS is applied.  Diluted EPS reflects the 
potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock, such as outstanding stock options, were 
exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the Company.  
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding to include the effect of 
contracts or securities exercisable (such as stock options) or which could be converted into common stock, if dilutive, using the treasury 
stock method.  
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NOTE 1—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Segment Reporting:  While the chief decision-makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and services, operations are 
managed and financial performance is evaluated on a Company-wide basis.  Operating results are not reviewed by senior management 
to make resource allocation or performance decisions.  Management has determined that the Company has a single operating segment, 
which is to provide consumer and commercial banking services to individuals and businesses located in Oconee, Pickens and Darlington  
Counties, South Carolina and to Stephens and Rabun Counties, Georgia and their surrounding counties and townships.  The Company's 
various products and services are those generally offered by community banks, and the allocation of resources is based on the overall 
performance of the Company versus individual regions, branches, products and services. 
 
New Accounting Standards: 
 
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2025-02, “Liabilities (405): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 122. Issued in March 2025, the FASB amended an SEC paragraph in the Accounting Standards Codification pursuant to 
the issuance of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 122. The amendment was effective upon issuance. The Company does not expect 
this amendment to have a material effect on its financial statements.  
 
ASU 2025-01, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-040): 
Clarifying the Effective Date”. Issued in January 2025, the FASB amended the effective date of ASU 2024-03 to clarify that all public 
business entities are required to adopt the guidance in annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods 
within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material 
effect on its financial statements.  
 
ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-040)”. 
Issued in November 2024, the FASB issued amendments to the Codification to require public companies to disclose, in interim and 
annual reporting periods, additional information about certain expenses in the notes to financial statements. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early 
adoption is permitted. The Company will apply the amendments. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material 
effect on its financial statements. 
 
ASU 2024-02, “Codification Improvements – Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements”. Issued in March 2024, 
the FASB issued amendments to the Codification that remove references to various FASB Concepts Statements. The amendments are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company will apply the amendments. 
The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on its financial statements. 
 
ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”. Issued in December 2023, the FASB amended 
the Income Taxes topic in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) to improve the transparency of income tax disclosures. The 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024 for the Company. Early adoption is permitted. The 
Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on its financial statements. 
 
ASU 2022-03, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale 
Restrictions”. Issued in June 2022, ASU 2022-03 provides guidance on the fair value measurement of an equity security that is subject 
to a contractual sale restriction and require specific disclosures related to such an equity security. The amendments are effective for 
financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023, including interim periods within those fiscal years. 
Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on its financial statements. 
 
There have been no other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies that 
are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The Company continues 
to evaluate the impact of standards previously issued and not yet effective.  
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NOTE 2 - ACQUISITION  
 

On January 31, 2024, the Company and its parent company, Oconee Federal, MHC, completed the acquisition of Mutual Savings 
Bank.  The acquisition was consummated in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among the Company, Oconee 
MHC, the Association and Mutual Savings Bank dated July 19, 2023, pursuant to which Mutual Savings Bank merged with and into the 
Association, with the Association  as the surviving institution. The Company has determined the acquisition constitutes a business 
combination as defined by generally accepted accounting principles.  As such, the Company has recorded the assets purchased and 
liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values. 

 
Upon completion of the acquisition, the Company issued 230,215 shares of Company common stock to Oconee MHC, which is 

equal to the quotient of (i) the valuation of Mutual Savings Bank, which was $3,200 as determined by an independent third party, divided 
by (ii) the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the OTCQX on January 31, 2024, or approximately $13.90 per 
share. In connection with the acquisition, the Company recorded a bargain purchase gain of $4,897, which is included in non-interest 
income. The bargain purchase gain represents the excess of the estimated fair value of the assets acquired over the estimated fair value 
of the liabilities assumed and is influenced significantly by the value determined by the third-party appraisal. The assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed and consideration paid in the acquisition were initially recorded at their estimated fair values based on management’s 
best estimates using information available at the date of the acquisition, and are subject to adjustment for up to one year after the closing 
date of the acquisition. The most significant fair value mark was the loan portfolio at $3,400. The acquisition also contributed to an 
increase in the allowance for credit loss of $454 as of the date of acquisition. 

 
 

As Recorded by 
Mutual Savings 

Bank

Fair Value and 
Other 

Adjustments

As Recorded 
by the 

Company
Consideration 
Common stock at $13.90 per share, 230,215 shares 3,200$            

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,973$               7$                      (1)    2,980$            
Securities available-for-sale 7,653                 (621)                  (2)    7,032              
Loans, net 37,028               (3,808)               (3)    33,220            
Premises and equipment, net 1,537                 (510)                  (4)    1,027              
Real estate owned, net 58                      (14)                    (5)    44                    
Accrued interest receivable 135                    -                         135                 
Restricted equity securities 355                    -                         355                 
Core deposit intangible -                         75                      (6)    75                    
Loan servicing rights 25                      -                         25                    
Other assets 67                      2,116                (7)    2,183              

Total assets acquired 49,831$            (2,755)$             47,076            

Liabilities
Deposits 32,039$            (11)$                  (8)    32,028$          
FHLB Advances 6,750                 (97)                    (9)    6,653              
Other liabilities 211                    87                      (10)  298                 
     Total liabilities assumed 39,000$            (21)$                  38,979$          

Net assets acquired 8,097              
Bargain Purchase Gain 4,897$            
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NOTE 2 – ACQUISITION  (Continued) 
 
Explanation of fair value and other adjustments: 
 

(1) The adjustments are miscellaneous amounts to reflect the proper bank balances. No fair value adjustments are included. 
(2) The adjustments are for converting all securities to fair value as available-for-sale category as of January 31, 2024. 
(3) The adjustments include miscellaneous amounts to reflect the proper loan balances for payments received as of January 31, 2024 

as well fair value and loan allowance adjustments. The net fair value adjustment of  $3,365, comprised of a $3,541 fair value 
adjustment to the gross loan portfolio acquired and the elimination of related existing deferred fees of $176, will be accreted to 
income on a level-yield basis over each loan’s contractual life.  The total allowance for credit loss adjustment of $454 is comprised 
of a general allocation adjustment of $115 plus an additional allowance for individually evaluated of $339.  

(4) Premises and equipment are adjusted to reflect recently appraised values of the land and buildings and the Company’s estimates 
of the fair value of furniture, fixtures and equipment. 

(5) The net adjustment reflects the fair value of real estate properties, less estimated costs to sell. 
(6) The adjustment reflects the value for the core deposit intangible at January 1, 2024. 
(7) The adjustments reflect the net deferred tax assets resulting from the fair value adjustments related to the acquired assets and 

liabilities, identifiable intangibles and other deferred tax items. The fair value adjustment of the net deferred tax asset assumes an 
effective tax rate of approximately 21%. 

(8) The adjustment reflects the difference in the contractual interest rates on the time deposits and those currently offered for similar 
terms. The premium was amortized into interest expense over a five month life using the straight line method. 

(9) The adjustment reflects the difference in the contractual interest rates on the FHLB advances and those currently available for 
similar terms. The premium will be amortized into interest expense over a four year life using the straight line method.  

(10) The adjustments are miscellaneous amounts to reflect the proper account balances for unaccrued liabilities. No fair value 
adjustments are included. 

 
 
The Company incurred transaction-related costs of $354, of which $329 were incurred in the year ended June 30, 2024.  

Transaction-related costs are expensed as incurred as a component of noninterest expense.  Transaction-related costs primarily include 
professional services and data processing fees.   

 
With this acquisition, the Company expanded its presence in South Carolina to include Darlington County, which enhances our 

ability to grow.    
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NOTE 3 - EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”)  
 
Basic EPS is determined by dividing net earnings available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the period.  Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
to include the effect of contracts or securities exercisable (such as stock options) or which could be converted into common stock, if 
dilutive, using the treasury stock method. ESOP shares are considered outstanding for this calculation unless unearned.  The factors used 
in the earnings per common share computation follow:  
 

 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Earnings per share
Net income 4,243$             6,255$             
Less:  distributed earnings allocated to participating securities (1)                      (2)                      
Less:  (undistributed income) dividends in excess of earnings 

allocated to participating securities (1)                      (3)                      
Net earnings available to common shareholders 4,241$             6,250$             

Weighted average common shares outstanding
including participating securities 5,837,104        5,703,373        

Less:  participating securities (2,100)              (4,600)              
Weighted average common shares outstanding 5,835,004        5,698,773        

Basic earnings per share 0.73$               1.10$               

Weighted average common shares outstanding 5,835,004        5,698,773        
Add:  dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock options 0                       0                       
Average shares and dilutive potential common shares 5,835,004        5,698,773        

Diluted earnings per share 0.73$               1.10$               

Years Ended

 
 
During the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, there were 43,900 shares that were considered anti-dilutive as the weighted average 
exercise prices of outstanding stock options were in excess of the weighted average market value for the periods presented.  
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NOTE 4 - SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE  
 

Debt, mortgage-backed and equity securities have been classified in the consolidated balance sheets according to management’s intent. 
U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities consist of securities issued by U.S. Government agencies and U.S. Government 
sponsored enterprises. Securities available for sale at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:  
 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

June 30, 2025 Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
   Municipal securities 7,555$                       -$                             (296)$                   7,259$                      
   CMOs 13,092                       13                            (1,208)                  11,897                      
   U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities 106,938                     1                              (14,914)                92,025                      
   U.S. Treasury and Government agency bonds 12,255                       -                               (1,314)                  10,941                      
Total available-for-sale 139,840$                   14$                          (17,732)$              122,122$                 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

June 30, 2024 Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
   Municipal securities 8,356$                       -$                             (505)$                   7,851$                      
   CMOs 14,572                       1                              (1,736)                  12,837                      
   U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities 116,930                     -                               (18,250)                98,680                      
   U.S. Treasury and Government agency bonds 12,314                       -                               (1,925)                  10,389                      
Total available-for-sale 152,172$                   1$                            (22,416)$              129,757$                 

 
There was no allowance for credit loss recorded for available-for-sale securities as of June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024.  
 
Securities pledged at June 30, 2025 and 2024 had fair values of $19,609 and $19,637, respectively.  These securities were pledged to 
secure public deposits at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024.   
 
At June 30, 2025 and 2024, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than U.S. Government agencies and U.S. 
Government sponsored enterprises, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.  
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NOTE 4 - SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (continued) 
 
The following tables show the fair value and unrealized loss of securities that have been in unrealized loss positions for less than 12 
months and for 12 months or more at June 30, 2025 and 2024.  The tables also show the number of securities in an unrealized loss 
position for each category of investment security as of the respective dates.   
 

Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1) Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1) Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1)

June 30, 2025
Available-for-sale:
   Municipal securities -$                  -$               -                     6,609$      (296)$        18                   $       6,609  $       (296)                 18 
   CMOs 523               (20)            1                    9,388         (1,188)       16                  9,911         (1,208)       17               
   U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities 3,507           (82)            7                    88,444      (14,832)     88                  91,951       (14,914)     95               
   U.S. Treasury and Government agency bonds -                    -                 -                     10,941      (1,314)       7                    10,941       (1,314)       7                 

4,030$         (102)$        8                    115,382$  (17,630)$  129               119,412$  (17,732)$  137            

Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1) Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1) Fair Value
Unrealized

Loss

Number in 
Unrealized 

Loss (1)

June 30, 2024
Available-for-sale:
   Municipal securities -$                  -$               -                     7,851$      (505)$        21                  7,851$       (505)$        21               
   CMOs 2,799           (46)            5                    9,679         (1,690)       15                  12,478       (1,736)       20               
   U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities 3,788           (44)            8                    94,892      (18,206)     88                  98,680       (18,250)     96               
   U.S. Treasury and Government agency bonds -                    -                 -                     10,389      (1,925)       7                    10,389       (1,925)       7                 

6,587$         (90)$          13                  122,811$  (22,326)$  131               129,398$  (22,416)$  144            

12 Months or More TotalLess than 12 Months

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total

 
(1) Actual amounts.  
 
At June 30, 2025, the Company had 137 individual investments that were in an unrealized loss position. The unrealized losses were 
primarily attributable to changes in interest rates, rather than deterioration in credit quality. The individual securities are each investment 
grade securities. The Company considers factors such as the financial condition of the issuer including credit ratings and specific events 
affecting the operations of the issuer, volatility of the security, underlying assets that collateralize the debt security, and other industry 
and macroeconomic conditions. The Company does not intend to sell these securities, and it is more likely than not that the Company 
will not be required to sell these securities before recovery of the amortized cost.  
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NOTE 4 - SECURITIES AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (continued) 
 
The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities classified as available-for-sale at June 30, 2025 and 2024 by contractual maturity 
are summarized in the following table.  Mortgage-backed securities are not scheduled since expected maturities will differ from 
contractual maturities because borrowers have the right to prepay the obligations. FHLMC common stock is not scheduled because it 
has no contractual maturity date. 
 

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

Less than one year 436$               432$               755$               745$               
Due from one to five years 8,576              8,143              6,608              6,059              
Due after five years to ten years 10,542            9,413              12,603            10,857            
Due after ten years 256                  212                  704                  579                  
Mortgage-backed securities, CMOs and FHLMC stock 120,030          103,922          131,502          111,517          
        Total available for sale 139,840$        122,122$        152,172$        129,757$        

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

 
 
 
NOTE 5 – LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES 
 
The components of loans at June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:  
 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Real estate loans:
One-to-four family 375,893$         372,564$            
Multi-family 1,095                1,533                   
Home equity 18,019              14,597                 
Nonresidential 44,232              45,101                 
Agricultural 2,228                2,350                   
Construction and land 32,702              29,880                 

 Total real estate loans 474,169            466,025               
Commercial and industrial 5,118                3,860                   

2,797                3,119                   
     Total loans 482,084$         473,004$            
Consumer and other loans

 
 
The table above includes net deferred loan fees of $4,976 and $5,560 at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively. 
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
The following table presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses for the year ended June 30, 2025 by portfolio segment:  
 

Beginning 
Balance Provision Charge-offs Recoveries

Ending 
Balance

One-to-four family 718$             (7)$                -$                             -$                  711$             
Multi-family 111               (41)                -                                -                    70                 
Home equity 77                 3                   -                                -                    80                 
Nonresidential 1,986            22                 -                                -                    2,008            
Agricultural 28                 (2)                  -                                -                    26                 
Construction and land 354               46                 -                                -                    400               
         Total real estate loans 3,274            21                 -                                -                    3,295            

Commercial and industrial 41                 43                 -                                -                    84                 
17                 (2)                  (1)                             -                    14                 

Total loans 3,332$         62$               (1)$                           -$                  3,393$         

Real estate loans:

Consumer and other loans

Year ended June 30, 2025

 
The following table presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses for the year ended June 30, 2024 by portfolio segment:  
 

 
 
The following table presents the recorded balances of loans and amount of allowance allocated by portfolio segment at June 30, 2025 
and June 30, 2024: 
 

Real estate loans:
Nonaccrual Loans with 

No Allowance
Nonaccrual Loans 
with an Allowance

Total Nonaccrual 
Loans

Nonaccrual Loans with 
No Allowance

Nonaccrual Loans with 
an Allowance

Total Nonaccrual 
Loans

One-to-four family 485$                                  -$                                   485$                         570$                                    -$                                         570$                            
Multi-family -                                         -                                      -                                 188                                      -                                           188                               
Home equity 19                                      -                                      19                              -                                           -                                           -                                    
Nonresidential 484                                    263                                747                            405                                      -                                           405                               
Agricultural -                                         -                                      -                                 -                                           -                                           -                                    
Construction and land -                                         -                                      -                                 -                                           -                                           -                                    
Total real estate loans 988                                    263                                1,251                        1,163                                   -                                           1,163                           

Commercial and industrial -                                         -                                      -                                 -                                           -                                           -                                    
Consumer and other loans 1                                         -                                      1                                15                                        -                                           15                                 

Total 989$                                  263$                              1,252$                      1,178$                                -$                                         1,178$                         

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

 
 

One-to-four family 976$              (218)$          43$               9$                                                (92)$             -$                      -$                    718$       
Multi-family 3                    19                85                 -                                                   4                   -                        -                      111         
Home equity 58                  8                  2                   -                                                   9                   -                        -                      77           
Nonresidential 210                846              251               330                                              349              -                        -                      1,986      
Agricultural 14                  14                -                    -                                                   -                   -                        -                      28           
Construction and land 173                255              7                   -                                                   (81)               -                        -                      354         
         Total real estate loans 1,434             924              388               339                                              189              -                        -                      3,274      

Commercial and industrial 53                  (21)               17                 -                                                   (8)                 -                        -                      41           
2                    2                  15                 -                                                   (2)                 -                        -                      17           

Total loans 1,489$          905$            420$            339$                                            179$            -$                      -$                    3,332$    

Initial Provision on loans 
purchased with credit 
deterioration acquired 

during the period Provision Charge-offs Recoveries
Ending 
BalanceYear ended June 30, 2024

Real estate loans:

Consumer and other loans

Beginning 
Balance

Adjustment 
for CECL

Merger 
Provision
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
The following tables present the aging of past due loans as well as nonaccrual loans.  Nonaccrual loans and accruing loans past due 90 
days or more include both smaller balance homogenous loans and larger balance loans that are evaluated either collectively or, if over 
$250, individually evaluated for credit losses.   
 
Total past due loans and nonaccrual loans by portfolio segment at June 30, 2025: 
 

30-59 60-89 90 Days or more
Days Days Past Due and Nonaccrual Total

Past Due Past Due still accruing Loans Current Loans
Real estate loans:

One-to-four family 2,223$     561$              -$                          485$         372,624$ 375,893$ 

Multi-family -                -                     -                            -                1,095        1,095        
Home equity -                280                -                            19             17,720     18,019     
Nonresidential 554           -                     -                            747           42,931     44,232     
Agricultural -                -                     -                            -                2,228        2,228        
Construction and land 157           -                     -                            -                32,545     32,702     

Total real estate loans 2,934        841                -                            1,251        469,143   474,169   
Commercial and industrial 18             -                     -                            -                5,100        5,118        
Consumer and other loans -                -                     -                            1               2,796        2,797        
Total 2,952$     841$              -$                          1,252$     477,039$ 482,084$ 

 
 
Total past due and nonaccrual loans by portfolio segment at June 30, 2024: 
 

30-59 60-89 90 Days or more
Days Days Past Due and Nonaccrual Total

Past Due Past Due still accruing Loans Current Loans
Real estate loans:

One-to-four family 3,857$     708$              -$                          570$         367,429$ 372,564$ 
Multi-family -                -                     -                            188           1,345        1,533        
Home equity 80             -                     -                            -                14,517     14,597     
Nonresidential 146           -                     -                            405           44,550     45,101     
Agricultural -                -                     -                            -                2,350        2,350        
Construction and land 138           -                     -                            -                29,742     29,880     

Total real estate loans 4,221        708                -                            1,163        459,933   466,025   
Commercial and industrial -                -                     -                            -                3,860        3,860        
Consumer and other loans 415           6                    -                            15             2,683        3,119        
Total 4,636$     714$              -$                          1,178$     466,476$ 473,004$ 

 
 
 
Interest income recognized on nonaccrual loans was insignificant during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
The Company designates individually evaluated loans on nonaccrual status as collateral‐dependent loans, as well as other loans that 
management of the Company designates as having higher risk. Collateral‐dependent loans are loans for which the repayment is expected 
to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The 
underlying collateral can vary based upon the type of loan. The following provides more detail about the types of collateral that secure 
collateral‐dependent loans: 
 

• Commercial  real  estate  loans  can  be  secured  by  either  owner‐occupied  commercial  real  estate  or  non‐owner‐occupied 
investment commercial real estate. Typically, owner‐occupied commercial real estate loans are secured by office buildings, 
warehouses, manufacturing facilities and other commercial and industrial properties occupied by operating companies. Non‐
owner‐occupied commercial real estate loans are generally secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, 
multifamily complexes, land under development, industrial properties, as well as other commercial or industrial real estate. 

• Residential real estate loans are typically secured by first mortgages, and in some cases could be secured by a second mortgage. 
• Home equity lines of credit are generally secured by second mortgages on residential real estate property. 
• Consumer  loans  are  generally  secured  by  automobiles,  motorcycles,  recreational  vehicles  and  other  personal property. 

Some consumer loans are unsecured and have no underlying collateral. 
 
The following table details the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans: 
 
Real estate loans: June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

One-to-four family 320$                                  106$                              
Multi-family -                                         -                                      
Home equity -                                         -                                      
Nonresidential 1,190                                 1,711                             
Agricultural -                                         -                                      
Construction and land -                                         -                                      
Total real estate loans 1,510                                 1,817                             

Commercial and industrial -                                         -                                      
Consumer and other loans -                                         -                                      

Total 1,510$                               1,817$                           

 
 
There were no loans purchased with credit deterioration in the year ended June 30, 2025. 
 
The following table shows a reconciliation of the difference between the purchase price and the par value loans purchased with credit 
deterioration during the year ended June 30, 2024:  
 
Purchase price of loans at acquisition 1,073$                           
Allowance for credit losses at acquisition 339                                
Non-credit discount/(premium) at acquisition 4                                     
Par value of acquired loans at acquisition 1,416$                           
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
There were no loans modified due to borrowers experiencing financial difficulties in the year ended June 30, 2025. 
 
The following table shows the amortized cost basis as of June 30, 2024 of the loans modified to borrowers experiencing financial 
difficulty during the year ended June 30, 2024, disaggregated by class of loans and type of concession granted and describes the financial 
effect of the modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty: 
 

Real estate loans:
One-to-four family 88$                     0.02% Added a weighted average 16 months to the life of the loans.

Amortized Cost 
Basis

Combination - Term Extension
% of Total 
Loan Type Financial Effect

 
 
 
Loan Grades:  
 
The Company utilizes a grading system whereby all loans are assigned a grade based on the risk profile of each loan. Loan grades are 
determined based on an evaluation of relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service their debt such as current financial 
information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information, and current economic trends, among other factors. 
All loans, regardless of size, are analyzed and are given a grade based upon the management’s assessment of the ability of borrowers to 
service their debts.  

Pass:  Loan assets of this grade conform to a preponderance of our underwriting criteria and are acceptable as a credit risk, based upon 
the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor. Loans in this category also include loans secured by liquid assets and secured 
loans to borrowers with unblemished credit histories. 

Pass-Watch:  Loan assets of this grade represent our minimum level of acceptable credit risk.  This grade may also represent obligations 
previously rated “Pass”, but with significantly deteriorating trends or previously rated. 
 
Special Mention:  Loan assets of this grade have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close attention. If left uncorrected, 
these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of repayment prospects for the loan or of the institution’s credit position at some 
future date. 
 
Substandard:  Loan assets of this grade are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or of the 
collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. 
They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. 
 
Doubtful: Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the added characteristic 
that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, highly 
questionable and improbable. 
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
Based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk grades of loans by portfolio segment and year of origination are presented in the 
following tables.   
 
Total loans by risk grade and portfolio segment at June 30, 2025: 
 

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 Prior Revolving Total
Real estate loans:

  One-to-four family
        Pass 11,596$      17,658$      31,593$      93,828$      58,455$      159,715$   -$                372,845$   
        Pass Watch -                   221             -                   -                   -                   826             -                   1,047          
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   107             -                   1,008          -                   1,115          
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   213             673             -                   886             
  Total One-to-four family 11,596        17,879        31,593        93,935        58,668        162,222      -                   375,893      

  Multi-family 
        Pass -                   172             142             391             -                   217             -                   922$           
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   173             -                   173             
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Multi-family -                   172             142             391             -                   390             -                   1,095          

  Home equity
        Pass 115             234             901             132             23                204             16,377        17,986$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   14                -                   14                
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   19                -                   19                
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Home equity 115             234             901             132             23                237             16,377        18,019        

  Nonresidential
        Pass 2,596          3,537          6,426          11,266        8,088          9,064          901             41,878$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   926             581             1,507          
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   263             -                   584             -                   847             
  Total Nonresidential 2,596          3,537          6,426          11,529        8,088          10,574        1,482          44,232        

  Agricultural
        Pass -                   -                   -                   -                   1,393          342             493             2,228$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Agricultural -                   -                   -                   -                   1,393          342             493             2,228          

  Construction and land
        Pass 6,222          17,432        5,540          1,934          459             832             283             32,702$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Construction and land 6,222          17,432        5,540          1,934          459             832             283             32,702        

                      Total real estate loans 20,529        39,254        44,602        107,921      68,631        174,597      18,635        474,169      

     Commercial and industrial
        Pass 153             752             640             607             -                   65                2,901          5,118$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

     Total Commercial and industrial 153             752             640             607             -                   65                2,901          5,118          

     Consumer and other loans
        Pass 951             511             448             281             38                100             467             2,796$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   1                  -                   1                  

     Total Consumer and other loans 951             511             448             281             38                101             467             2,797          

                      Total Loans 21,633$      40,517$      45,690$      108,809$   68,669$      174,763$   22,003$      482,084$   

   Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                1$                -$                1$                

Year of Origination
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
Total loans by risk grade and portfolio segment at June 30, 2024: 
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior Revolving Total
Real estate loans:

  One-to-four family
        Pass 4,363$        24,989$      97,890$      66,467$      48,989$      126,297$   -$                368,995$   
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   89                1,178          -                   1,267          
        Special Mention -                   -                   106             -                   379             982             -                   1,467          
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   835             -                   835             
  Total One-to-four family 4,363          24,989        97,996        66,467        49,457        129,292      -                   372,564      

  Multi-family 
        Pass -                   240             400             453             -                   245             -                   1,338$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   7                  -                   7                  
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   188             -                   188             
  Total Multi-family -                   240             400             453             -                   440             -                   1,533          

  Home equity
        Pass 209             1,028          141             25                -                   310             12,869        14,582$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   15                -                   15                
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Home equity 209             1,028          141             25                -                   325             12,869        14,597        

  Nonresidential
        Pass 1,242          6,989          14,012        7,840          1,968          9,210          1,081          42,342$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   266             451             936             -                   589             2,242          
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   517             -                   517             
  Total Nonresidential 1,242          6,989          14,278        8,291          2,904          9,727          1,670          45,101        

  Agricultural
        Pass -                   -                   -                   1,453          49                355             493             2,350$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Agricultural -                   -                   -                   1,453          49                355             493             2,350          

  Construction and land
        Pass 5,869          17,554        4,718          617             645             450             -                   29,853$      
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   27                -                   27                
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
  Total Construction and land 5,869          17,554        4,718          617             645             477             -                   29,880        

                      Total real estate loans 11,683        50,800        117,533      77,306        53,055        140,616      15,032        466,025      

     Commercial and industrial
        Pass 849             821             969             96                6                  251             868             3,860$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

     Total Commercial and industrial 849             821             969             96                6                  251             868             3,860          

     Consumer and other loans
        Pass 694             1,041          402             146             146             89                201             2,719$        
        Pass Watch -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Special Mention -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
        Substandard -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   400             400             

     Total Consumer and other loans 694             1,041          402             146             146             89                601             3,119          

                      Total Loans 13,226$      52,662$      118,904$   77,548$      53,207$      140,956$   16,501$      473,004$   

   Current period gross write-offs -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Year of Origination
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NOTE 5 - LOAN AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES (continued) 
 
At June 30, 2025, a consumer mortgage loan secured by residential real estate property totaling $69 was in formal foreclosure 
proceedings and is included in one-to-four family loans. At June 30, 2024 there were no loans in foreclosure.  

 

Loans to principal officers, directors, and their affiliates during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:  
 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Beginning balance 352$               360$               
New loans -                       -                       
Sales and repayments (8)                     (8)                     
Ending balance 344$               352$               

 
 
Directors and officers of the Company are customers of the institution in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, 
these loans do not involve more than normal risk of collectability nor do they present other unfavorable features.   
 
 
NOTE 6—PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT  

Premises and equipment at June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:  

June 30,
 2025

June 30,
 2024

Land 2,543$            2,578$            
Buildings and improvements 10,529            10,578            
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (1) 2,293              2,621              
Computer software 301                  236                  

15,666            16,013            
Less: accumulated depreciation (7,274)             (7,298)             

8,392$            8,715$            
  

 
(1) A right of use equipment lease of $128 and $186 is included in this balance as of June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively. 
 
Depreciation expense was $487 and $514 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
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NOTE 7—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  
The carrying value of goodwill was $2,593 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The carrying value of the core deposit intangible 
was $26 and $59 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 

June 30,
 2025

June 30,
 2024

Core deposit intangible gross 1,034$            1,034$            
Accumulated amortization (1,008)             (975)                
   Core deposit intangible, net 26$                  59$                  

 
 
Amortization expense for the core deposit intangible for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $33 and $37, respectively. 
  
Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is as follows: 

 
 

2026 20$                  
2027 6                      
2028 -                       
2029 -                       
2030 -                       
   Total 26$                  

 
 

NOTE 8—DEPOSITS  
  
At June 30, 2025 and 2024, certificate of deposit accounts with balances over $250 totaled approximately $51,054 and $47,521, 
respectively.  Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit at June 30, 2025 are as follows for each fiscal year:  
 

2026  $        197,712 
2027              44,497 
2028                4,449 
2029                    625 
2030                      87 

247,370$        
 

 
There are no certificates of deposit scheduled to mature after 2030.   
 
There were no brokered deposits at June 30, 2025 or at June 30, 2024.  
  
Directors and executive officers were customers of, and had transactions with, the Company in the ordinary course of business.  Included 
in such transactions are deposit accounts, all of which were made under normal terms.  The aggregate amount of these deposit accounts 
was $3,333 and $2,970 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.   
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 NOTE 9 - BORROWINGS 
 
At June 30, 2025 and 2024, advances from the FHLB were as follows: 

Maturity Date Amount Rate Amount Rate
7/10/2024 -$                       0.00% 7,000,000$          5.48%
7/17/2024 -                         0.00% 4,500,000            5.33%

8/7/2024 -                         0.00% 7,000,000            5.47%
8/28/2024 -                         0.00% 5,500,000            5.48%
9/18/2024 -                         0.00% 2,500,000            5.49%

10/16/2024 -                         0.00% 6,500,000            5.48%
11/13/2024 -                         0.00% 7,000,000            5.47%
11/27/2024 -                         0.00% 2,700,000            5.47%
12/11/2024 -                         0.00% 6,000,000            5.45%

1/29/2025 -                         0.00% 2,500,000            1.59%
2/2/2028 3,000,000         3.74% 3,000,000            3.74%

5/10/2028 1,750,000         3.69% 1,750,000            3.69%
8/13/2025 5,000,000         4.51% -                            0.00%

8/6/2025 4,000,000         4.48% -                            0.00%
8/20/2025 5,500,000         4.44% -                            0.00%
9/10/2025 4,000,000         4.36% -                            0.00%
9/24/2025 3,000,000         4.36% -                            0.00%

11/19/2025 3,500,000         4.43% -                            0.00%
12/10/2025 6,000,000         4.41% -                            0.00%

35,750,000$    4.34% 55,950,000$        5.04%

June 30, 2024June 30, 2025

 

The weighted average interest rate of all outstanding FHLB advances was 4.34% and 5.14% on June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, 
respectively. 

Each advance is payable at its maturity date, with a prepayment penalty for fixed rate advances. The advances are collateralized by 
$159,606 and $152,166 in loans at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively, under a blanket collateral agreement whereby 
qualifying mortgages, free of other encumbrances and at various discounted values as determined by the FHLB, are maintained. The 
Association has also pledged as collateral FHLB stock. Based on this collateral, the Association is eligible to borrow up to a total of 
$165,031 at June 30, 2025.  
 
There were no overnight borrowings at June 30, 2025 or June 30, 2024. 
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NOTE 10—INCOME TAXES  

Income tax expense for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was as follows:  

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Current federal expense 673$                  150$              
Current state expense 210                    65                  
Deferred federal expense 260                    183                
Deferred state expense 59                      41                  

Total 1,202$               439$              

 

Temporary differences between tax and financial reporting that result in net deferred tax assets are as follows at June 30, 2025 and 2024:  

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Deferred tax assets:
Fair value adjustments from acquisition 908$                  1,131$           
Allowance for credit losses 924                    930                
Deferred loan fees, net 567                    574                
Deferred compensation 29                      40                  
Acquired net operating loss ("NOL") 558                    593                
Equity compensation plans 15                      14                  
Fixed assets 143                    -                     
Prepaid expenses -                         65                  
Accrued compensation 112                    83                  
Securities available-for-sale 3,553                 4,684             
Other 2                         2                     

Total deferred tax assets 6,811                 8,116             
Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid expenses (66)                     -                     
Fixed assets -                         (67)                 
FHLB stock dividends (48)                     (48)                 

Total deferred tax liabilities (114)                   (115)               
Net deferred tax asset 6,697$               8,001$            
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NOTE 10—INCOME TAXES (Continued) 

A federal net operating loss (“NOL”) of $403 was acquired in the Stephens Federal Bank acquisition in 2014.  At June 30, 2025 and 
2024, the NOL remaining totaled $185 and $206, respectively, with a deferred tax asset of $39 and $43, respectively.  The NOL will 
expire on June 30, 2034.  Federal and state NOLs of $2,286 for each was acquired in the Mutual Savings Bank acquisition in 2024 with 
an annual Section 382 limitation of $122.  At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the federal and state NOLs remaining totaled $2,114 and $2,137, 
respectively, with a deferred tax asset of $544 and $550, respectively. The Mutual Savings Bank NOLs will begin to expire on June 30, 
2030. The realization of the deferred tax asset resulting from the NOLs is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income prior to 
the NOL’s expiration.  In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax asset, management considered whether it is more likely than not 
that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset would not be realized.  Based on the Company’s current and expected future financial 
performance as well as strong asset quality, management determined that no valuation allowance was necessary at June 30, 2025.  

 
Retained earnings as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 includes approximately $5,284 representing reserve method bad debt reserves 
originating prior to December 31, 1987 for which no deferred income taxes are required to be provided.  These reserves may be included 
in taxable income if the Company pays dividends in excess of its accumulated earnings and profits (as defined by the Internal Revenue 
Code) or in the event of a distribution in partial or complete liquidation of the Company.   

A reconciliation of the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate to pretax income with income tax expense for the years 
ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows:  

Amount % Amount %
Tax at statutory federal income tax rate 1,143$                       21.00   % 1,406$          21.00   %
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

State income tax expense, net of federal benefit 213                            3.90     84                 1.25     
Life insurance benefits (119)                           (2.18)   (111)              (1.65)    
Tax exempt interest income (32)                             (0.58)   (32)                (0.47)    
Bargain purchase gain -                             -       (1,028)          (15.36)  
Merger expenses -                             -       69                 1.03     
Other—net (3)                               (0.06)   51                 0.76     

Total 1,202$                       22.08   % 439$             6.56     %

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

 
  
The Company has no current uncertain tax positions in place. No amounts were accrued for penalties or interest as of June 30, 2025 and 
2024. The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax of the states of South Carolina and Georgia.  The 
Company is no longer subject to examination by taxing authorities for tax years ending before 2022. 
 
 
NOTE 11—COMMITMENTS  

Loan commitments and related activities:  Some financial instruments, such as loan commitments, credit lines, letters of credit, and 
overdraft protection, are issued to meet customer financing needs.  These are agreements to provide credit or to support the credit of 
others, as long as conditions established in the contract are met, and usually have expiration dates.  Commitments may expire without 
being used.  Off-balance-sheet risk to credit loss exists up to the face amount of these instruments, although material losses are not 
anticipated.  The same credit policies are used to make such commitments as are used for loans, including obtaining collateral at exercise 
of the commitment.   
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NOTE 11—COMMITMENTS (Continued) 

The contractual amount of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk at June 30, 2025 and 2024 was as follows:  

Fixed Variable Fixed Variable

Loan commitments 2,701$            1,807$            3,920$            610$                     
Unused lines of credit 21,483$          27,386$          18,627$         28,035$                

 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

 
 
The allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments of $336 and $280 at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively, is 
separately classified on the balance sheet within Other Liabilities.  
 
The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for the year 
ended June 30, 2025. 
 

Year ended June 30, 2025
Beginning 

Balance
Provision/ 

(Reclaimation Charge-offs Recoveries
Ending 
Balance

Reserve for Unfunded commitments 280$               56$                  -$                    -$                           336$            
 
The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for the year 
ended June 30, 2024. 
 

Year ended June 30, 2024
Beginning 

Balance
Adjustment 
for CECL Charge-offs Recoveries

Ending 
Balance

Reserve for Unfunded commitments -$                     299$               -$                           -$                280$             

Provision/ 
(Reclaimation)

(19)$                    

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 60 days or less.  The fixed rate loan commitments are primarily for the 
purpose of financing the purchase, the refinance, or the construction of residential real estate.  At June 30, 2025, these commitments and 
unused lines of credit have interest rates ranging from 1.25% to 18.00% and maturities ranging from one to 30 years.    

Financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk:  The Company has no additional financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk.     

NOTE 12—REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS  
 
Savings and loan associations are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies.  Capital adequacy 
guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations, involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and 
certain off-balance-sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to 
qualitative judgments by regulators.  Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action.  Management believes that as 
of June 30, 2025, the Association met all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject. The Company is not subject to capital 
requirements because of its size.  

 
Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, significantly 
undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to represent overall financial condition.  If adequately 
capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered deposits.  If undercapitalized, capital distributions are limited, as is asset 
growth and expansion, and capital restoration plans are required.  At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Association was categorized as well 
capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  There are no conditions or events since that notification that 
management believes have changed the Association’s category.   
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NOTE 12—REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Association to maintain minimum amounts and 
ratios of total, Tier 1 capital and Common Equity Tier 1 capital, as defined by the regulations, to risk-weighted assets, as defined, and 
of Tier 1 capital to average assets, as defined. The Association must hold a capital conservation buffer of 2.50% above the adequately 
capitalized risk-based capital ratios. The net realized gain or loss on available for sale securities is not included in computing regulatory 
capital. Management believes that, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Association met all capital adequacy requirements to which it was 
subject. 
 
The Association's actual and minimum capital requirements to be well-capitalized under prompt corrective action provisions are as 
follows:   

June 30, 2025 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Total capital to risk weighted assets 95,181$    25.85        % 38,666$    10.50 % 36,824$      10.00          %
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets 91,452      24.83        25,777      7.00 23,936        6.50             
Tier 1 (core) capital to risk weighted assets 91,452      24.83        31,301      8.50 29,460        8.00             
Tier 1 (core) capital to average assets 91,452      13.57        26,952      4.00 33,691        5.00             

June 30, 2024 Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

Total capital to risk weighted assets 90,789$    24.99        % 38,148$    10.50 % 36,332$      10.00          %
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets 87,177      23.99        25,432      7.00 23,616        6.50             
Tier 1 (core) capital to risk weighted assets 87,177      23.99        30,882      8.50 29,065        8.00             
Tier 1 (core) capital to average assets 87,177      12.85        27,135      4.00 33,919        5.00             

Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions

Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions

To Be Well Capitalized
For Capital  Under Prompt Corrective

To Be Well Capitalized
For Capital  Under Prompt Corrective

     
  

 
The June 30, 2025 and 2024 Total Risk Weighted Assets Capital Ratios, Common Equity Tier 1 Ratios, and the Tier 1 to Risk Weighted 
Assets Capital Ratios displayed above under the heading “For Capital Adequacy Purposes” include conservation buffers of 2.50%.  
 
The Qualified Thrift Lender test requires that at least 65% of assets be maintained in housing-related finance and other specified areas.  
If this test is not met, limits are placed on growth, branching, new investments, FHLB advances and dividends, or the Association must 
convert to a commercial bank charter.  Management believes this test is met.   
 
Dividend Restrictions—The Company's principal source of funds for dividend payments is dividends received from the Association.  
Banking regulations limit the amount of dividends that may be paid without prior approval of regulatory agencies.  Under these 
regulations, the amount of dividends that may be paid in any calendar year without prior approval is limited to the current year's net 
profits, combined with the retained net profits of the preceding two years, subject to the capital requirements described above. The 
Association has not paid any dividends during calendar year 2025 but, as of June 30, 2025 could, without prior approval, but with 
regulatory notice, declare dividends of approximately $2,881 (based on calendar year net income through June 30, 2025).  
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NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the principal or most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. There are 
three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values:  
 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of 
the measurement date.  
 
Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted 
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.  
 
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.  

 

Investment Securities: 

The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices, if available (Level 1).  For securities where quoted 
prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar securities (Level 2).  For securities where quoted 
prices or market prices of similar securities are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market 
indicators (Level 3). 
 
Loans: 
 
The fair values of loans, excluding loans held for sale and impaired loans, are estimated based on the loan’s interest rate structure. Fair 
values for variable rate loans that reprice frequently and with no significant change in credit risk are based on the carrying values 
resulting in a Level 3 classification. Fair values for fixed rate loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, using interest 
rates currently being offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality along with an exit price notion resulting 
in a Level 3 classification.  
 
Individually Evaluated Loans:   
 
The fair value of individually evaluated loans with specific allocations of the allowance for credit losses is generally based on recent 
real estate appraisals.  These appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable 
sales and the income approach.  Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the appraisers to adjust for differences 
between the comparable sales and income data available.  Such adjustments are typically significant and result in a Level 3 classification 
of the inputs for determining fair value.  Non-real estate collateral may be valued using an appraisal, net book value per the borrower’s 
financial statements, or aging reports, adjusted or discounted based on management’s historical knowledge, changes in market conditions 
from the time of the valuation, and management’s expertise and knowledge of the client and client’s business, resulting in a Level 3 fair 
value classification.  Individually evaluated loans are evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly. 
There were $952 and $1,412 of individually evaluated loans with specific allocations at June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024, respectively.  

Loans Held for Sale: 
 
Loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, which is evaluated on a pool-level basis.  The fair value of loans held 
for sale is determined using quoted prices for similar assets, adjusted for specific attributes of that loan or other observable market data, 
such as outstanding commitments from third party investors and result in a Level 2 classification.  
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NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Loan Servicing Rights:     
 
Fair value is determined based on a valuation model that calculates the present value of estimated future net servicing income.  The 
valuation model utilizes assumptions that market participants would use in estimating future net servicing income and that can be 
validated against available market data and results in a Level 3 classification.  
 
Real estate owned:   
 
Assets acquired through or instead of loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less costs to sell when acquired, establishing a 
new cost basis.  These assets are subsequently accounted for at lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell.  Fair value is 
commonly based on recent real estate appraisals, which are updated no less frequently than annually.  These appraisals may utilize a 
single valuation approach or a combination of approaches including comparable sales and the income approach.  Adjustments are 
routinely made in the appraisal process by the independent appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income 
data available.  Such adjustments are usually significant and typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair 
value.  Real estate owned properties are evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly. 

Appraisals for both collateral-dependent impaired loans and real estate owned are performed by certified general appraisers (for 
commercial properties) or certified residential appraisers (for residential properties) whose qualifications and licenses have been 
reviewed and verified by the Company.  Once received, management reviews the assumptions and approaches utilized in the appraisal 
as well as the overall resulting fair value in comparison with independent data sources such as recent market data or industry-wide 
statistics.  On an annual basis, the Company compares the actual selling price of collateral that has been sold to the most recent appraised 
value to determine what additional adjustment should be made to the appraisal value to arrive at fair value. 

Deposits: 

The fair values disclosed for demand deposit, money market and savings accounts are equal to the amount payable on demand at the 
reporting date resulting in a level 2 classification. Fair values for fixed rate certificates of deposit are estimated using a discounted cash 
flow calculation that applies interest rates currently being offered on certificates of deposit to a schedule of aggregated expected monthly 
maturities on time deposits resulting in a level 2 classification. 

FHLB Advances: 

The fair values of the Company’s FHLB advances are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the current borrowing 
rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements resulting in a Level 2 classification. 
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NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are summarized below:  
 

 

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Financial assets:
Securities available-for-sale:

Municipal securities -$                   7,259$          -$                         -$                       7,851$           -$                   
CMOs -                     11,897          -                           -                         12,837           -                     
U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities -                     92,025          -                           -                         98,680           -                     
U.S. Treasury and Government agency bonds -                     10,941          -                           -                         10,389           -                     

Total securities available-for-sale -                     122,122        -                           -                         129,757         -                     
Equity securities 671                -                     -                           110                    -                      -                     
Loan servicing rights -                     -                     296                      -                         -                      342                
   Total financial assets 671$              122,122$      296$                    110$                  129,757$      342$              

   

Fair Value Measurements
June 30, 2024June 30, 2025

 
 
There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2025 or 2024. 
 
The table below presents the valuation methodology and unobservable inputs for Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024: 

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Fair Value Fair Value

Loan servicing rights 296$                             342$                             
 Discounted cash 

flows 
Discount rate, estimated 

timing of cash flows  10.75% to 11.13% 

Level 3 Quantitative Information 
Valuation 
Technique Unobservable Inputs  Range

 
  
 
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are summarized below:  
 

June 30,
2025

June 30,
2024

(Level 3) (Level 3)
Financial assets:
Individually evaluated loans

One-to-four family 311$                    97$                    
Nonresidential 878                      1,381                 

   Total assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis 1,189$                 1,478$              

Fair Value Measurements
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NOTE 13—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
The table below presents the valuation methodology and unobservable inputs for Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring 
basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024: 

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Fair Value Fair Value

Individually evaluated loans 1,189$                          1,478$                          

Appraised 
Value/Discounted 

Cash Flows

Discounts to appraisals or 
cash flows for estimated 

holding and/or selling costs 0% to 38%

Level 3 Quantitative Information 
Valuation 
Technique Unobservable Inputs  Range

 
 
 
There were no liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024. 
 
NOTE 14—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

The Company has deferred compensation agreements with certain of its directors whereby director fees are withheld to fund insurance 
contracts from which the funds will ultimately be disbursed.  These agreements require the Company to make payments to such directors 
beginning at the age set forth in the agreement or upon death of the director if prior to the minimum age requirement.  The directors vest 
ratably over periods established in the agreements.  Interest on the liabilities is charged to earnings based on imputed interest rates 
established at the beginning of each agreement, which is 8.50% at June 30, 2025 and ranges from 6.69% to 8.50% at June 30, 2024.  
The total expense incurred under these plans for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $18 and $22, respectively.  The recorded 
liability for these agreements was $112 and $157 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and is included in other accrued liabilities in 
the consolidated balance sheet.   

To provide funds for the payments under these deferred compensation agreements, the Company has purchased insurance policies on 
the lives of the directors covered by these plans.   

The Company has the option of making an annual contribution to a profit-sharing plan for all full-time employees over the age of 21 
having completed one year of service.  The Company has exercised this option in 2025 and 2024, and as such, total expense under the 
profit sharing plan for each of the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was $167 and $170, respectively.   
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NOTE 15—EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN 

Employees participate in an Employee Stock Ownership Plan.  The ESOP borrowed from the Company to purchase 248,842 shares of 
the Company’s common stock at $10 per share during 2011.  The Company makes discretionary contributions to the ESOP, and pays 
dividends on unallocated shares to the ESOP. Originally the ESOP used funds it received to repay the loan.  When loan payments were 
made, ESOP shares were allocated to participants based on relative compensation and expense was recorded.  The ESOP loan was repaid 
in full in December 2022.  
 
Dividends on allocated shares increase participant accounts. Participants receive the shares at the end of employment.  Each participant 
vests at a rate of 20% per year. There was no ESOP compensation expense recognized for the year ended June 30, 2025. ESOP 
compensation expense recognized for the year ended June 30, 2024 was $122.  
  
Shares held by the ESOP at June 30, 2025 and 2024 were as follows:  
 

June 30,
 2025

June 30,
 2024

Committed to be released to participants -                       -                       
Allocated to participants 153,226          168,630          
Unearned -                       -                       

Total ESOP shares 153,226          168,630          

Fair value of unearned shares -$                    -$                     
 
NOTE 16—STOCK BASED COMPENSATION  

 
On April 5, 2012, the shareholders of the Company approved the Oconee Federal Financial Corp. 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the 
“Plan”) for employees and directors of the Company.  The Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 435,472 shares of the Company’s 
common stock, with no more than 124,420 of shares as restricted stock awards and 311,052 as stock options, either incentive stock 
options or non-qualified stock options.  The exercise price of options granted under the Plan may not be less than the fair market value 
on the date the stock option is granted.  The compensation committee of the board of directors has sole discretion to determine the 
amount and to whom equity incentive awards are granted. The Plan shall remain in effect as long as any awards or options are 
outstanding. However, the ability to grant awards or options ceased as of April 5, 2022 and therefore, there have been no stock options 
or restricted stock issued in fiscal 2025 or 2024. 
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NOTE 16—STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (Continued) 
 
 
The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended June 30, 2025: 
 

Options

Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price/Share

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value (1)

Outstanding - June 30, 2024
 
  43,900                22.90$                

Granted
 
  -                        -                     

Exercised
 
  -                        -                     

Forfeited
 
  (7,700)                -                     

Outstanding - June 30, 2025
 
  36,200                23.51$                -$                      

Fully vested and exercisable at June 30, 2025
 
  34,200                23.53$                -$                      

Expected to vest in future periods
 
  2,000                  

Fully vested and expected to vest - June 30, 2025
 
  36,200                23.51$                -$                      

 
 
(1)  The intrinsic value for stock options is defined as the difference between the current market value and the exercise price.  The current market price 
was based on the closing price of common stock of $12.10 per share on June 30, 2025.  
 
 
The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended June 30, 2024: 
 

Options

Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price/Share

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value (1)

Outstanding - June 30, 2023
 
  43,900                22.90$                

Granted
 
  -                        -                        

Exercised
 
  -                        -                        

Forfeited
 
  -                        -                        

Outstanding - June 30, 2024
 
  43,900                22.90$                -$                      

Fully vested and exercisable at June 30, 2024
 
  38,300                22.60$                -$                      

Expected to vest in future periods
 
  5,600                  

Fully vested and expected to vest - June 30, 2024
 
  43,900                22.90$                -$                      

 
 
(1)  The intrinsic value for stock options is defined as the difference between the current market value and the exercise price.  The current market price 
was based on the closing price of common stock of $12.60 per share on June 30, 2024.  
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NOTE 16—STOCK BASED COMPENSATION (Continued) 

Stock options are assumed to be earned ratably over their respective vesting periods and charged to compensation expense based upon 
their grant date fair value and the number of options assumed to be earned.  There were 2,767 and 3,600 options that were earned during 
the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.  Stock-based compensation expense for stock options for the years ended June 
30, 2025 and 2024 was $11 and $15, respectively.  Total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was $7 at June 30, 
2025 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1 year. 

The fair value for each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model that uses the 
following assumptions.  The Company uses the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant to determine the risk-free 
interest rate.  The expected dividend yield is estimated using the projected annual dividend level and recent stock price of the Company’s 
common stock at the date of grant.  Expected stock volatility is based on historical volatilities of the SNL Financial Index of Thrift 
MHCs.  The expected life of the options is calculated based on the “simplified” method as provided for under generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

The following table summarizes non-vested restricted stock activity for the years ended June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024:  

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Balance - beginning of year 4,600                6,900                    
Granted -                         -                            
Forfeited -                         -                            
Vested (2,500)               (2,300)                  
Balance - end of period 2,100                4,600                    
Weighted average grant date fair value 23.16$              23.16$                 

 

The fair value of the restricted stock awards is amortized to compensation expense over their respective vesting periods and is based on 
the market price of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant multiplied by the number of shares granted that are expected to 
vest. There was no restricted stock granted during fiscal 2025 or 2024. Total shares of restricted stock granted under the Plan is 131,044 
of which 2,100 remain unvested at June 30, 2025.  The weighted-average grant date fair value of all shares granted is $14.01 per share.  
Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock included in noninterest expense for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 was 
$57 and $53, respectively.  Unrecognized compensation expense for non-vested restricted stock awards was $47 and is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1 year.   
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NOTE 17—LOAN SERVICING RIGHTS 
 
Mortgage loans serviced for others are not reported as assets; however, the underlying mortgage servicing rights associated with 
servicing these mortgage loans serviced for others is recorded as an asset in the consolidated balance sheet. The principal balances of 
those loans were $26,982 and $32,494 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 
Custodial escrow balances maintained in connection with serviced loans were $368 and $443 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 
 
Activity for loan servicing rights for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 
 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Loan servicing rights:
Beginning of period: 342$                  357$                  
Additions -                         25                      
Change in fair value (46)                     (40)                     
End of period: 296$                  342$                  

Year Ended

 
 
Fair value at June 30, 2025 was determined using a discount rate of 10.75%, prepayment speed assumptions ranging from 5.02% to 
10.39% Conditional Prepayment Rate (“CPR”) depending on the loans coupon, term and seasoning, and a weighted average default rate 
of 3.0%. Fair value at June 30, 2024 was determined using a discount rate of 11.13%, prepayment speed assumptions ranging from 
5.57% to 12.71% Conditional Prepayment Rate (“CPR”) depending on the loans coupon, term and seasoning, and a weighted average 
default rate of 3.0%.   
 
NOTE 18—SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest paid 12,121$           11,831$           
Income taxes paid 616$                155$                

Supplemental noncash disclosures:
Change in unrealized gain/loss on securities available-for-sale 4,697$             732$                
Adoption of CECL accounting standard -$                     816$                 
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NOTE 19—PARENT COMPANY ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,623$           6,258$           
Other 25                   18                   
Investment in banking subsidiary 80,632           72,495           

Total assets 84,280$         78,771$         

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Shareholders' equity 84,280$         78,771$         

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 84,280$         78,771$         

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Dividend from banking subsidiary -$                    5,658$           
Other expenses (146)               (306)               
Income/(loss) before equity in undistributed income of subsidiary (146)               5,352              
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiary 4,358              864                 
Income before income taxes 4,212              6,216              
Income tax benefit (31)                  (39)                  
Net income 4,243$           6,255$           

JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
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NOTE 19—PARENT COMPANY ONLY CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
 

June 30, 
2025

June 30, 
2024

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income 4,243$           6,255$           
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by provided by operating 
activities:

Change in other assets (7)                    47                   
Change in accounts payable and other liabilities -                      (28)                  
Change in undistributed income of subsidiary (4,358)            (864)               

Net cash (used)/ provided by operations (122)               5,410              

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Purchases of treasury shares (178)               (14)                  
Dividends paid (2,335)            (2,290)            

Net cash used in financing activities (2,513)            (2,304)            
Change in cash and cash equivalents (2,635)            3,106              
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,258              3,152              
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 3,623$           6,258$           

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND 2024
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 
 
NOTE 20—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On July 23, 2025, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per share of the Company’s 
common stock payable to stockholders of record as of August 7, 2025, which was paid on August 21, 2025. 

Management has reviewed events occurring through September 22, 2025, the date the financial statements were available to be issued 
and has identified no subsequent events that have occurred requiring disclosure other than the dividend discussed above. 
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